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early as 1869 the genealogical collection began to assume importance, 
and by 1895 it ranked among the three or four leading collections 
of genealogy in the nation. Before WiUiams became librarian, prac­
tically all the collections were donated, but during his administration 
books were purchased in increasing numbers. In 1867 seventy-three 
doUars were spent for books; two decades later, in 1887, the amount 
was twenty-seven hundred dollars. Nevertheless, gifts still greatly 
outnumbered purchases. In fact, during the entire period of the so­
ciety's existence, the percentage of gifts has always been higher 
than that of purchases; as late as 1948 the proportion of gifts to the 
library was seventy-five per cent. 

The Ubrary in 1889 had more than forty thousand books and 
some fifteen hundred bound volumes of newspapers. By 1893 Wil­
liams had built it up to such an extent that he could boast that "the 
people regard this society as the fountain and treasury of every fact 
relating to Minnesota. . . . And they are seldom sent away empty-
handed." This growth, while a source of pride, was likewise a source 
of complaint on the part of the librarian. "Of course," he wrote, 
"this keeping a general depository of knowledge, added to the mul­
tifarious details of a librarian's duties, taxes the time to a great 
degree. And a good modicum of his time is consumed in entertain­
ing visitors, who do not want anything in particular, but who con­
sume about so much time, nevertheless. The librarian has often 
remarked that a very useful and quite indispensible official of the 
library, would be one whose sole duty would be to 'entertain bores.'" 

Manuscripts were not neglected during this period. Some valu­
able collections were received as gifts, including the priceless Talia­
ferro Papers and some Washington and Lincoln items. In 1872 
WiUiams advertised, through newspapers and by means of circulars, 
for written statements "from our old pioneers and early settlers . . . 
of their own personal adventures and experiences in the early settle­
ment of Minnesota, and other reminiscences of the pioneer days of 
our State." He reported the results as most gratifying. Many of the 
documents obtained represented information nowhere else on record. 
Williams looked forward to the use of this material for a future 
history of Minnesota, and to the continuation of his efforts "until 
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our record and account of the first setdement of every county and 
town in the State is complete." 

Though his work on behalf of the society generally progressed 
with smoothness and the results usually were gratifying, WilUams' 
administration was not without a discordant note. Late in 1876 the 
executive council was asked to consider whether the two St. Paul 
lots purchased for the society in 1856 should be utiHzed to produce 
income. Judge Aaron Goodrich, one of the original corporators of 
the society, moved that the lots should remain unoccupied, as they had 
during the past twenty years. A councilor who was not one of the 
founding group. General John B. Sanborn, offered a substitute reso­
lution, directing the society's officers to manage the lots so as to 
yield an income. His resolution carried by a vote of seven to three. 

At the next council meeting, Goodrich was ready with a new 
resolution. It provided that Sanborn's resolution be expunged from 
the record, because it was "adopted in violation of the laws" of the 
society. When the Goodrich resolution was voted down ten to four, 
there began what Williams reported as the "unpleasantness" which 
divided the society's members into two factions and ended in the 
state Supreme Court. As his belligerency "ripened into open rebel­
lion," Goodrich "plied his seductive wiles among the staid, con­
servative members" of the council, building up a faction which 
included seven of the eight surviving corporators. They took the 
position that the society's charter "is an executed contract between 
the state and the corporators named therein"; that "its trustees were 
named in the charter, and were invested thereby with the power of 
perpetuating themselves; and that "they cannot add to their num­
ber." The amendatory act of 1856, which increased the number of 
councilors, or "trustees," from nineteen to twenty-five, they there­
fore declared "unconstitutional and void." Thus, claimed Goodrich 
and his supporters, the eight surviving corporators and the duly 
elected successors of the eleven deceased founders "alone constituted 
the Minnesota Historical Society." 

Such men as Sibley, Neill, and Robertson joined General San-
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born in the position that die society's original charter gave the "right 
to admit new members at pleasure, for every such [private] cor­
poration possesses that incidental power when not restrained by its 
charter, and the charter in this instance contains no such restriction." 
Furthermore, they maintained that, on March 21, 1856, the amenda­
tory act of that year was accepted at a special meeting, and "twenty-
five gentlemen, including several of the corporators named in the 
act of 1849, were elected" to the council. Since the amendatory act 
of 1856 had been accepted without qualification, members of the 
Sanborn faction claimed that the original charter contemplated "a 
membership comprising the grantees named in the charter, their 
associates, and the successors of both of these classes, instead of the 
successors of the original grantees alone." In their opinion, the 1856 
act was valid. 

The newspapers made the most of the schism and some mem­
bers contributed to the publicity by writing articles themselves. Each 
group called itself the "Minnesota Historical Society" and went its 
separate way until the legislature met in 1878. When the appropria­
tion came up for consideration, the legislature had to know which 
group should receive the money. It ordered a hearing before the 
Supreme Court. The question, submitted to the court in the form 
of a quo warranto directed to the corporators, was argued by both 
sides, and on January 11, 1879, the court handed down its decision. 
To the disappointment of the Goodrich faction, the court ruled that 
the original organization of 1849 was the legally constituted body, 
and that the act of 1856 was entirely efficacious. The appropriation 
was given to the permanent organization. Rather than spend state 
funds to pay court costs, members subscribed enough money pri­
vately to defray all expenses; and WiUiams reported that the work 
of the society had not been "retarded in any manner." 

The need for a fireproof building to house the society's growing 
collections and to guarantee their safety was frequently reiterated 
by WiUiams in his reports. The increase in size of the library, he 
cautioned, "increases the danger and the loss, if destroyed." Again, 
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he wrote that fire was "frequently predicted and always feared." An 
attempt was made to obtain a biulding in 1878, when a committee 
was appointed to draft a biU for a legislative appropriation of thirty-
five thousand dollars to help defray the costs of its construction. 
Another committee was appointed to solicit subscriptions for the 
same purpose, conditional on the passage of the bill. Although 
nearly fifteen thousand dollars were privately subscribed, the project 
had to be abandoned because the legislature took no action. 

In 1881 the fears of the society's officers were realized. Let Wil­
liams tell the story: "On March i, 1881, at nine o'clock P.M., the 
fatal hour came! The capitol was found to be on fire in the dome. 
Both houses of legislature were in session and a large crowd of 
spectators in attendance. Vigorous efforts were made at once by the 
latter to save the valuable library of the Historical Society. The doors 
and windows leading to the society's apartments were thrown open, 
and soon two or three score of men were busily engaged in carrying 
out armfuls of books and depositing them on the seats of the Uni-
versalist church near by." 

While most of the library was saved, the fire did result in the loss 
of several thousands of books, pamphlets, and newspaper volumes. 
Under the circumstances of the haphazard rescue efforts, it is sur­
prising that the loss was so small. The society's files contain an in­
teresting letter on these efforts from H. L. Hinckley of White Bear 
Lake, who wrote to Williams the next day: "During the progress 
of the fire, last evening, I saw a number of the books of the His­
torical Society piled on Wabasha Street, and not knowing what 
damage might happen them in the confusion, ventured to move 
some of them into a dwelling house near by. . . . You may be glad 
to be enabled to account for the following," and he listed several of 
the most valuable items now in the society's possession. Hinckley 
went on to say that he had "hastily filled a basket with a selection 
which I believed to be among the most valuable which I saw. I wish 
I could have done more. We shall all congratulate ourselves that so 
little was lost. I hardly realized before how many good friends the 
Society had." 

Williams deplored the "almost total destruction of our really fine 



1949 HIGHLIGHTS OF A CENTURY 313 

and valuable cabinet of curiosities. . . . All our gatherings for thirty 
years were lost." Opinion might well differ on thc loss of the "cabi­
net of curiosities." In a sense, the loss was a blessing, when one con­
templates the value to Minnesota of a box of weapons and other 
objects "illustrating domestic Hfe in Polynesia," a fragment of the 
boiler of a steamboat that exploded in 1864, a knot of a tree shaped 
like a human face, a piece of oak with a deer's head imbedded in it, 
a bird's nest made partly of newspaper, and a watch chain made 
from the hair of an Indian hanged at Mankato in 1862. 

St. Paul's newly finished market house furnished temporary 
quarters for the society after the fire. The library was moved into it, 
and in a few weeks "all was running smoothly." When the new 
Capitol building was completed, two years later, the society once 
more took up basement quarters under its dome. 

One of the society's most important services to the people of 
Minnesota during Williams' administration was the establishment 
of Itasca State Park in 1890. In 1888 Jacob V. Brower proposed to 
undertake a topographical and hydrographical survey of the Itascan 
basin, at his own expense, provided the society would give him a 
commission for the purpose. The commission was readUy granted, 
and the next year Brower organized a party of engineers and pro­
ceeded to make the survey. Two years later the society memorialized 
the legislature to establish a state park in the basin, and the legisla­
ture acted at once. The park, which now consists of 31,816 acres, 
includes the source of the Mississippi, and preserves for posterity 
almost the only large stand of virgin timber left in Minnesota. 

In 1893 WiUiams' health failed and he resigned. He died before 
the end of the year. During his quarter century of service, he had 
seen the society — little more than a name when he entered its 
service — take an enduring place in the life of the state, its use­
fulness established and unquestioned. He was succeeded in 1895, 
after an interval of temporary appointments, by Warren Upham. 

Upham was a geologist who had made a name for himself as one 
of Minnesota's most distinguished scientists. A native of New 
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Hampshire and a graduate of Dartmouth, he had come to Minne­
sota in 1879 to assist Newton H. Winchell, the state geologist, in 
the Minnesota Geological Survey. Vigorous and only twenty-nine, 
he devoted himself to the project. He later estimated that, during 
three of the eight years of his investigations, he had traveled eleven 
thousand miles by horse and had averaged twenty-five miles a day. 
The results of his geological explorations are recorded in numerous 
periodicals of the time, both in America and abroad, and in several 
impressive volumes, one of which. The Glacial Lake Agassiz, has 
been called "a classic on the subject of postglacial physiography." In 
1895, at the age of forty-five, when he had reached the pinnacle of 
his career as a geologist, he suddenly changed his field of work to 
become librarian of the Western Reserve Historical Society at Cleve­
land. There he stayed but a few months. His many friends in Min­
nesota had not forgotten him, and they wanted him to return. 

Upham took over his new duties with the Minnesota Historical 
Society in November, 1895, and he remained in Minnesota the rest 
of his life, as secretary and librarian of the society until 1914, and as 
its archaeologist from that date until his retirement in 1933. Al­
though he continued to contribute articles in the field of geology un­
til 1905, his new duties caused a shift of interest to archaeology 
and history. Less aggressive than Williams, he was more deeply in­
terested in study and writing. He edited five volumes of the society's 
Collections, some of which contain his own contributions. Two 
other volumes, Minnesota Biographies and Minnesota Geographic 
Names, which are probably the most useful in the series, appeared 
under his authorship. The one, Folwell characterized as "a most ad­
mirable and convenient Minnesota 'Who's Who,'" and the other, as 
"an equally admirable 'There's Where.'" Upham was also one of 
the editors of the four-volume Minnesota in Three Centuries, the 
first volume of which he wrote. 

A contemporary described Upham as "courtly, modest, unobtru­
sive, almost retiring until his own field was mentioned; he then be­
came alert, authoritative and entertaining. He was endeared to all 
his associates by his modesty regarding his own attainments, his 
thoughtfulness for others and his willingness to give without stint 
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both his time and his knowledge." Like Williams, Upham was more 
interested in the steady growth of the Ubrary than in promoting the 
society's service to the public. During his regime the library grew 
from 56,537 volumes to nearly twice that number; legislative ap­
propriations were increased from $6,000 to $20,000 annually; the 
staff was augmented by ten persons; and the society's dream of a 
building of its own neared realization. 

To understand fully how the Historical Building became a real­
ity and how the modern society emerged, one must look back to the 
era of the pioneers, in which both have their roots. Pioneers are 
dramatic makers of history. The pioneer settlers of Minnesota were 
conscious of that fact, and to them a historical society, as a collector 
and preserver of their history, was a practical thing. Most of them, 
however, were too preoccupied with the strain of making history to 
collect it themselves. Certainly they had no real need for it in their 
daily living. They were content that a minority of their number had 
the time and the interest to devote some attention to the serious 
aspects of collecting and preserving what to them was casual daily 
circumstance. Only in old age did they enjoy ruminating over the 
past and the special part they and their friends had taken in it. 

This attitude was reflected in the society's development up to the 
end of the Civil War. Wars commonly rekindle interest in history, 
and the Civil War was no exception to that truism, which partly 
explains the reawakening of the society during WiUiams' regime. 
Moreover, new sources of wealth, a rising standard of living, more 
leisure, and a higher regard for education during the post-Civil-War 
period contributed to the increasing interest in the society and its 
work. That interest, however, was limited by a number of circum­
stances, among them chiefly the fact that the Minnesota Historical 
Society was dealing no longer with pioneers, but with new immi­
grants who could have no interest in a historical society in a region 
they regarded as too new to have any history, and with the genera­
tion of native Minnesotans who were the children of pioneers. These 
children, aware that they faced a new and changing world, may 
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have had boundless respect for pioneers, but they had little interest 
in their deeds. Less conscious of making history than their fathers 
had been, they cared Httle about its preservation. 

Not long after the turn of the century, a third generation began 
to make itself felt. Rooted in the state, with the stabiUty of two 
generations behind them, these grandchildren of pioneers became 
aware of the backgrounds of their envuronment. Their grandparents' 
tales of pioneer experiences were exciting. They began to collect 
whatever remnants they could of that bygone time. A historical so­
ciety was not only practical to them; it was mildly exciting. They 
not only read history, but they got busy and wrote what they called 
"the new history." Genealogy, antiques, daguerreotypes and ambro-
types, old newspapers, and, above all, manuscripts were sources of 
an interest more general than the Minnesota Historical Society had 
ever seen before. 

The Minnesota Historical Society needed something new, some­
thing to satisfy and nourish this growing interest. This was recog­
nized by Guy Stanton Ford, who became a member of the society 
in 1913 soon after his appointment as professor of history and dean 
of the graduate school of the University of Minnesota. After attend­
ing a few meetings, Dean Ford reaUzed that the society represented 
an unfulfilled promise, that it needed a young man of vigor and 
professional training in history to direct its activities into the pro­
gram that the people of Minnesota wanted. He presented his ideas 
to the executive council, which responded enthusiastically to his sug­
gestion that Solon J. Buck, a thirty-year-old assistant professor of 
history at the state university, be appointed to direct the affairs of 
the society on a half-time basis. Dr. Buck took over the directorship 
of the society in the fall of 1914. 

Dr. Buck, as Folwell put it, had been trained in the "modern 
school of American historians," first at the University of Wisconsin 
and later at Harvard, where he completed work for his Ph.D. He 
had received inspiration through his association with two of the 
outstanding historians of the Midwest, Frederick Jackson Turner, 
under whom he studied in Wisconsin, and Clarence W. Alvord, 
with whom he worked as research associate at the University of 
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IlUnois. Before Dr. Buck came to the Minnesota society, two books 
on Midwest history had been published under his name. 

Having agitated for a building of its own almost since it was 
created, the society had made several campaigns since the Civil War 
to obtain a fireproof home. The Capitol fire of 1881 gave special 
point to its efforts. But it was not until 1913 that the legislature saw 
fit to take action. In that year it passed an act, which was amended 
in 1915, appropriating $500,000 for the erection of a fireproof histori­
cal building, with the understanding that the society contribute 
$75,000 for the purchase of the site and the equipment. The building 
was completed in 1917, and in December of that year the society 
began the process of moving its collections from the basement quar­
ters in the present Capitol, which it had occupied for twelve years. 
The operation was completed on March i, and the society ended its 
basement existence forever. GraduaUy adjusting itself to the beau­
tiful building it still occupies, the society soon felt at home in its un­
accustomed grandeur. By the second week of May all was ready for 
the housewarming, a celebration combined with a meeting of the 
Mississippi Valley Historical Association. The building was dedi­
cated on the last day of the meeting — the sixtieth anniversary of the 
admission of Minnesota to the Union. 

It was most appropriate, and undoubtedly inspiring, for the new 
superintendent to have a new building for the inauguration of his 
program. Not that he had waited until then to engender new life 
into the society, for he had begun that process immediately after 
assuming his office. Dr. Buck's accomplishments show that he was 
as much interested as his predecessors had been in the growth of 
the society, and much more concerned than they about how it grew. 
His program, stated briefly, called for comprehensive, but always 
discriminating, collecting; the use of modern methods in the care 
and administration of the collections; the dissemination of informa­
tion about state history through greater use of the collections by the 
pubHc, through publications, and through broader public service; 
and the building up of a professionally competent staff. Along with 
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this, he injected his personal vigor and penetrating mind into all 
phases of his burgeoning program, so that in the course of a day he 
was all over the building in a kind of omniscience. A master of de­
tail, he was as absorbed in the care and preservation of manuscripts 
as he was concerned about the impeccability of each page of proof in 
the society's publications. Books for the library not only must be 
chosen judiciously, but must be catalogued without a single mistake. 
One of his dictums is still quoted by the staff in the catalogue divi­
sion: "Remember that most other people can make mistakes that 
are soon forgotten, but yours will last hundreds of years." 

To Dr. Buck, sound scholarship was imperative for a historical 
society, and he set high professional standards for each of the so­
ciety's functions. He was active in many professional organizations 
outside the state, and he took a leading part in shaping some of 
them. His regime marked a revitalization of the society that gave it 
a national as well as a local reputation. 

In keeping with the new awakening, the executive council in 
1915 simplified the administration of the society by revising the by­
laws. The secretary, as superintendent ex officio, was placed in charge 
of the society's activities, under the direction of an executive commit­
tee composed of the president, the secretary, the treasurer, and two 
other members of the council appointed by the president. This com­
mittee, which later included the two vice-presidents, met monthly 
and was responsible to the executive council of thirty members, plus 
the six top officers of the state, who were members ex officio. The 
membership was overhauled to provide for three classes of mem­
bers — annual, sustaining, and life. The next year the council adopted 
a plan for the use of part of the income from the invested funds for 
the operation of the society. 

Dr. Buck recognized the fact that he had inherited from his pred­
ecessors, Williams and Upham especially, a Ubrary of unusual 
scope and character. It had been for many years the very center of 
the society's activities, and thc new superintendent determined that 
the trend should be continued and strengthened. He felt it neces­
sary, however, to define more clearly the library's acquisition policy 
in order to avoid the danger of spreading its resources too thinly 
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over too broad a field. Under his guidance the library concentrated 
on the collection of books covering all Minnesota material, official 
and unofficial; all important works in general American history, 
with emphasis on the upper Mississippi Valley and the Great Lakes 
region; books of travel in America; books on Scandinavians in the 
United States; and, finally, publications on state and local history. 
The library's classification system was changed from the Cutter to 
that of the Library of Congress. The printed cards obtained from 
the Library of Congress resulted not only in a saving of time, but 
also in more uniform and thorough cataloguing. The increasing use 
of the library by the public is documented by the figures: In 1919, 
the number of books served to readers was about six thousand, and 
in ten years this figure had multiplied five times. But the library's 
services were not restricted to those who came to the Historical 
Building, for numerous requests for information came by telephone 
and by mail. These requests have increased through the years until 
now the staff of the reference division devotes a large part of its 
time to answering them. 

During Dr. Buck's administration the library increased in size 
from 118,000 volumes to 171,000, and it now has well over 200,000. 
Of substantial aid in contributing to the high quality of the library 
was the generous bequest in 1927 of $25,000 from Herschel V. Jones 
of MinneapoHs. The income from this fund was made available for 
the purchase of rare books, manuscripts, and other materials relating 
to Minnesota. A practice begun six years later and continued to the 
present time — the gifts of genealogical books by Minnesota chap­
ters of various patriotic societies as memorials to certain of their 
members — has added immeasurably to the library's genealogical re­
sources. 

Quick to appreciate the large and valuable manuscript collec­
tions. Dr. Buck soon reaUzed that too little use was being made of 
them. There was need for a planned program for their acquisition, 
for their care and arrangement, and for their ready accessibility. A 
remarkably high percentage of Minnesotans active in poUtical and 
business affairs, or their descendants, had made gifts of their papers. 
The first large collection was received in 1868 —the journals and 
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other papers of Lawrence Taliaferro. Other donors were Franklin 
Steele, Alexander Ramsey, John H. Stevens, the Pond brothers, 
Philander Prescott, Hazen Mooers, William T. Boutwell, George 
Stuntz, and Edward D. Neill. In 1893 the society received the huge 
Sibley collection, and in 1914, the even more extensive Donnelly Pa­
pers. In the earlier period emphasis had been placed on reminis­
cences, particularly on those that could be published. Dr. Buck in­
augurated a program for collecting manuscripts by analyzing the 
collections and attempting systematically to secure manuscripts that 
would fill in neglected periods and phases of Minnesota history. The 
success of these efforts was soon apparent. The accessions for 1920 
were over thirty per cent more in bulk than those of 1919, which 
had been larger than those of any previous year. Professional and 
modern methods of preserving, classifying, and cataloguing manu­
scripts also were instituted. While the collections increased steadily, 
their distinction grew proportionately, and they have attracted schol­
ars from many parts of the United States, and even from abroad. 

Hoping that he could "build up a real historical museum, con­
sisting not of mere curiosities and associated items, but rather of 
articles carefully selected and arranged to illustrate life and condi­
tions in Minnesota at successive periods of its history," Dr. Buck 
stirred up the dust in the "cabinet," which he put on an efficient and 
intelligible basis. He started in at the bottom of the problem by 
making a "new and complete record of the entire museum collec­
tion," describing each item in an accession book. In 1917 the first in 
a series of bimonthly children's hours was held, with eighty-seven 
children attending. 

In 1915 the first issue of the quarterly magazine, originally 
known as the Minnesota History Bulletin, appeared. It was founded 
primarily to keep members informed of the society's work, to review 
significant books, and to pubUsh papers and documents formerly 
printed in the Collections. As the years went by, more good articles 
were submitted for the magazine than could be published, and 
eventually the contents of some issues were composed chiefly of 
articles written by invitation on assigned topics, invitations which 
were readily accepted. The high canons set up by Dr. Buck for this 
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magazine were maintained and extended by the editors who have 
since guided it. 

The state archives — the official records of the departments of 
state government — Dr. Buck felt were "of perhaps greater impor­
tance as materials for history than all the coUections of the society." 
During 1915 the society co-operated with the public archives com­
mission in making an inventory of the Minnesota state archives, and 
four years later the legislature passed an act authorizing the society 
to assume custody of noncurrent state archives. The importance, too, 
of the records of counties and other local government units, was 
recognized by Dr. Buck, and in 1916 and the year following, the 
society completed a survey of the archives of sixteen Minnesota 
counties. 

When the United States entered the First World War, the vari­
ous departments of the society began collecting materials relating to 
wartime activities and conditions in Minnesota. It soon became evi­
dent, however, that the project involved more work than the society 
could accomplish alone. At Dr. Buck's instigation, a War Records 
Commission was appointed by the Minnesota Commission of Pub­
lic Safety to take over the collection of war history materials, and 
after the war ended, the legislature established the Minnesota War 
Records Commission to complete the work. A notable result of the 
collecting activities of the commission was the publication by the 
society of the two-volume History of Minnesota in the War with 
Germany. 

One of the most significant projects begun by Dr. Buck was the 
founding of county historical societies. These were the natural new 
growth from the matured parent society, the acorns from the oak. 
They represented especially an appreciation of local history. When 
the first local history conference was held at the Historical Building 
in 1921, there was no county activity to report; but Dr. Buck in­
spired several of the delegates to go home and arouse interest. Such 
a conference was made a regular feature of the society's annual 
meetings, and at the second one a model constitution was presented. 
In 1922 the St. Louis County Historical Society was formed, the first 
permanent county historical society in the state. By 1930 there were 
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sixteen county societies, and before the state society had reached its 
centenary, there was a total of eighty-seven, one for each county in 
the state. These societies represent both pride and responsibility in 
local history. Just as each of these offshoots was nourished and sus­
tained by the parent society, so now do they help support a recip­
rocal state-wide program. 

During Dr. Buck's regime the membership was more than quad­
rupled, until, in 1930, the society could boast of 1,749 members. He 
founded a monthly press release in 1921 which has been maintained 
ever since and has been widely used by newspapers, and a Check 
List of Minnesota Public Documents, published from 1923 to 1941; 
he initiated annual summer meetings, the first of which, held in 
Duluth in 1922, was the only meeting up to that time which the 
society had held outside the Twin City area; and he encouraged and 
promoted the teaching of Minnesota history in the schools of the 
state. 

The popular support accorded these new undertakings demon­
strated that the people of Minnesota felt that their daily activity had 
some meaning in the scheme of time, that history gave a sense of 
continuity and furnished an anchor in the eddying changes of their 
own world. A further proof of this was the interest shown in the 
publication by the society of William Watts Folwell's comprehen­
sive and scholarly History of Minnesota, the first volume of which 
appeared in 1921, and the fourth and last in 1930. The popular re­
ception of this work showed not only a desire to understand the 
past but also a maturity rather recently attained by the people of 
Minnesota. Likewise, the publication of the Folwell History was an 
indication that the society itself had come of age. 

The fact that Dr. Buck achieved so much in rejuvenating the 
society during the first few years of his administration was a partial 
measure of his success; but a more complete measure was his abiUty 
to sustain his program during the entire seventeen years of his re­
gime. After the first few years his chief task was the administration 
of the enlarged organization that he had established. He was aided 
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greatly by enlarged appropriations to the society from the legislature, 
the first increase in twelve years being granted in 1917. This increase 
raised the annual figure from $20,000 a year to $25,000, and addi­
tional increases later brought the annual appropriation up to $53,100 
at the end of the decade. 

When the society's financial condition permitted it. Dr. Buck 
augmented his staff with professionally trained and competent per­
sonnel. A number of them are still members of the staff: Wil-
loughy M. Babcock, for many years curator of the museum and 
now head of the newspaper department; Mary W. Berthel, associate 
editor; Lois M. Fawcett, head of the reference division; Bertha L. 
Heilbron, editor of Minnesota History; Esther Jerabek, head of the 
accessions division; Esther Johnson, catalogue assistant; Irene Lar­
son, catalogue clerk; Elsa R. Nordin, head cataloguer; and Grace 
Lee Nute, for many years curator of manuscripts and now research 
associate. Among his appointments also were two of his successors 
to the superintendency, Theodore C. Blegen, who became assistant 
superintendent of the society in 1922, and Arthur J. Larsen, who was 
appointed head of the newspaper department in 1928. 

Dr. Blegen's appointment, like Dr. Buck's, was on a half-time 
basis, and he continued his duties as head of the history department 
at Hamline University and, later, as professor of history at the Uni­
versity of Minnesota. The team of Buck and Blegen was a happy 
one for the society, for the two men had the same high standards of 
scholarship, and they thought along the same lines in vital matters. 
The assistant superintendent took a large part in implementing the 
superintendent's program. He took over the editorship of Minnesota 
History and the monthly newspaper release, promoted the county 
historical society movement, and in innumerable ways assisted in 
broadening the society's services to the public. 

In 1931 Dr. Buck resigned to become director of the Western 
Pennsylvania Historical Survey. Later he became archivist of the 
United States. The executive council did not have far to look for his 
successor, nor did it need to spend time in deliberation. Dr. Blegen 
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moved across the room to Dr. Buck's desk, and the administration 
of the society's affairs moved forward as usual, smoothly and quietly, 
with no need for readjustment on the part of the staff. But to Dr. 
Blegen the step across the room must have seemed formidable. He 
was to administer the affairs of the society alone, and still on a part-
time basis; for he took over the superintendency in the financial de­
pression of the 1930's, when the society's legislative appropriations 
were cut, and there was no money to pay an assistant superinten­
dent. 

Dr. Blegen guided the affairs of the society through most of the 
next decade. Largely through his scholarship and wise leadership, 
and his ideal of carrying the history of Minnesota to the people of 
the state, the society's activities expanded in spite of the depression, 
its coUections multipHed, and its vitaUty increased. And the society 
basked in his reflected glory — in his reputation as an author, as an 
editor, as a speaker, as a leader in national professional organiza­
tions, and as the recipient of honorary degrees from universities here 
and abroad. 

A project which Dr. Blegen considered "one of the most effective 
of the society's many pubUc educational activities" was launched in 
1932, when the first of a series of broadcasts on Minnesota history 
was given over the University of Minnesota radio station WLB. The 
series, given by staff members, was continued during the next two 
years, and was pubUshed in the Minnesota Alumni Weekly. 

The year 1933 was designated by the governor as Minnesota's 
"Diamond Jubilee Year," for it was the seventy-fifth anniversary of 
the state's admission to the Union. The society took the lead in pro­
moting a state-wide observance of the occasion, by arranging a 
Statehood Day program, planning a series of radio programs which 
were broadcast from several radio stations, publishing a Diamond 
Jubilee number of Minnesota History, organizing a committee to 
encourage various organizations to take part in the celebration, 
co-operating in a program for the schools, and providing informa­
tion and assistance for a number of other observances of the anni­
versary. 

With collections continually growing, the congestion in the part 
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of the Historical Building occupied by the society was increasing at 
an alarming rate. The situation was greatly relieved in 1933, when 
the state department of education, which had occupied part of the 
building since its construction, removed to the new State Office 
Building. Later, under WPA, substantial additions to the building 
were made under the two terraces, providing much needed stack 
and storage space. 

The alphabetical government agencies generated by the depres­
sion were a boon to the society, if not to the overburdened staff who 
supervised the numerous activities in which the society co-operated. 
Important projects, which the society could not have attempted with 
its limited staff, were pushed forward by workers under these agen­
cies, and many of them were completed. Under Dr. Blegen's direc­
tion, the survey of county archives, which had been started under 
Dr. Buck in 1916, was revived in 1934 under CWA, and later was 
continued by the Historical Records Survey of the WPA. Surveys 
of both county and state archives were completed, and the results 
of several of the county surveys were published. The Historical 
Records Survey also inventoried the archives of hundreds of cities, 
towns, and school districts, and the records of churches, cemeteries, 
fraternal, business, and other organizations. Under the partial su­
pervision of the society, archaeological excavations were made at 
Grand Portage and Fort Ridgely. A WPA project was set up with 
some thirty workers to assist the society in a number of special tasks. 
These workers, under the direction of staff members, indexed and 
inventoried library and manuscript materials, made substantial prog­
ress on both a bibliography of Minnesota newspapers and on an 
analytical catalogue of the picture collection, transcribed manuscripts 
and special items from newspapers, cleaned and arranged docu­
ments, mended books, manuscripts, maps, and newspapers, con­
structed miniature groups for the museum, and built display cases, 
filing equipment, and other furniture. Out of all this activity came 
not only a valuable survey of the materials on Minnesota history in 
the state, but also guides to make them usable. 

During Dr. Blegen's regime a notable series of publications ap­
peared under the society's imprint. Under his editorship, Minnesota 
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History attained distinction as a leading periodical in its field. To 
provide an attractive and popular vehicle for the publication of 
some of the basic sources of state history, such as diaries, letters, and 
other documents, he launched a scries of Narratives and Documents 
in 1932 with the publication of the diary and sketches of Frank B. 
Mayer. A volume of Jane Grey Swisshelm's letters followed in 1934, 
and another consisting of two Minnesota farmers' diaries appeared 
in 1939. Another series of publications begun in the 1930's was a 
group of Special Bulletins. Their purpose was to provide guides, in­
ventories, indexes, bibUographies, and the like for the society's vast 
collections, and to outline the methods and practices that it has de­
veloped in preserving and administering its collections. The first of 
the series, a Guide to the Personal Papers in the society's manuscript 
collections, appeared in 1935. This was followed in rapid succession 
in 1935 by Rules for Copying Manuscripts, A Bibliography of Min­
nesota Territorial Documents, and The Care and Cataloguing of 
Manuscripts. 

In 1934 appeared the first volume of Dr. Blegen's Norwegian Mi­
gration to America, based largely on material which he had as­
sembled in Norway under a Guggenheim fellowship. In order to 
devote his energies to the preparation of the second volume of this 
important contribution to American immigration history, he re­
signed his position as the society's head in the summer of 1939, Not 
long after the completion of the book, he became dean of the gradu­
ate school of the University of Minnesota, 

Once more the society's executive council faced the problem of 
finding a superintendent, and once more it filled the vacancy by 
turning to the staff. Their choice fell upon Dr. Larsen, at that time 
head of the newspaper department. Schooled under Dr. Buck and 
Dr. Blegen, both at the society and at the university. Dr. Larsen 
combined in his background not only administrative, but writing 
and research experience. He had received his Ph.D. degree in 1938 
after completing a monograph on the Minnesota road system, he 
had organized a bibliography of Minnesota newspapers, and he had 
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edited the volume of Jane Grey Swisshelm's letters pubhshed by the 
society in 1934. Added to these quaUfications, he had a personality 
which redounded to the society's benefit by making for it many new 
and faithful friends. 

The ever-increasing administrative duties of the superintendent's 
office, as well as the steady demands upon his scholarly accomplish­
ments, made it imperative that the new incumbent give his full 
time to the duties of his office. Thus, for the first time since Upham's 
day, a superintendent was on hand all day and every day. Although 
Dr. Larsen was not obliged to devote half of his energies to teaching, 
his administration was destined to meet with an even greater inter­
ruption— an interruption occasioned by the Second World War. 

One matter that early drew Dr. Larsen's attention was the so­
ciety's WPA program. The years 1940 and 1941 saw the completion 
of some important projects, such as inventories of the archives of 
more than thirty counties, a handbook of historic markers in Minne­
sota, and an inventory of early American imprints in the state. Each 
of Dr. Larsen's first three years was marked by the appearance of a 
society publication — a volume of Minfiesota Farmers' Diaries edited 
by Rodney C. Loehr, the first edition of Dr. Nute's perennially pop­
ular Voyageur's Highway, and her well-edited collection of Docu­
ments Relating to Northwest Missions, the last published in 
co-operation with the Mississippi Valley Historical Association. 

In the meantime, December, 1941, had come and gone, and for 
Americans Pearl Harbor had changed the face of the world. The 
society was soon drawn into the vortex. A miUtary figure. Brigadier 
General Harold E. Wood, delivered the annual address for 1942; 
WPA came to an end; the short-lived Minnesota War History Com­
mittee was established in the Historical Building; and the superin­
tendent was granted a leave of absence to accept a commission as a 
first lieutenant in the Army Air Forces. 

Again the newspaper librarian was invited to move upstairs to 
the superintendent's office. The difficult and exacting tasks of keep­
ing the society active and intact in wartime and of guiding its work 
in the direction of the war effort feU to Dr. Lewis Beeson. His fa­
miliarity with the Minnesota story stemmed from his collaboration 
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with Dean Blegen in compiUng a study outUne entitled Minnesota: 
Its History and Its People. Gready to Dr. Beeson's credit is the fact 
that he succeeded in maintaining interest in the society and its pro­
gram during a period when funds were low, when the use of its 
collections and its museum attendance dropped, when scarcity of pa­
per curtailed publication, when gasoline shortages made summer 
tours impossible, when regulations regarding meetings put a stigma 
upon historical gatherings in the society's building and elsewhere. 
Difficulties notwithstanding. Dr. Beeson was able to inaugurate a 
notable program of co-operation with the schools, with the newly 
organized Folk Arts Foundation, and with local and national war 
records groups. 

When Dr. Larsen was discharged in the fall of 1945 with the 
rank of major, and with a distinguished record of service as a his­
torical officer for the Continental Air Forces, he returned to the 
society to find an institution that was ready to branch out into new 
fields and to embark on a number of new and important projects. 
Capitalizing on the work of a school committee. Dr. Larsen organ­
ized a junior historian program and in November, 1946, he inau­
gurated, in modest mimeographed form, the society's magazine for 
youthful readers, the Gopher Historian. Directed to this audience 
also were two sets of pictures for classroom use, published under the 
tide Pictorial Minnesota. Another publication that owes its origin to 
Dr. Larsen is the monthly News for Members, designed especially 
to carry current news about the society and its accomplishments to 
its members. 

Two Centennial Publications issued under Dr. Larsen's editor­
ship in 1946 served to remind readers that Minnesotans would be 

, staging a celebration in 1949. The first, Minnesota Under Four 
Flags, was made possible by the generous gift of $1,000 from Mr. 
Robert Butler of St. Paul; the second, Minnesota, the North Star 
State in Pictures, was pubUshed for die society by the Itasca Press 
of St. Paul. Dr. Larsen began, too, to make definite plans for the 
Centennial celebration. To implement these plans the legislature of 
1947 appropriated $150,000, to be used during the fiscal years 1947-49 
in preparing and carrying out in a fitting manner the commemora-
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tion of the Minnesota Territorial Centennial. The society was desig­
nated the official state agency in charge of the celebration. 

The period of Dr. Larsen's return to civilian life was marked by 
the inception, under the society's sponsorship, of two important re­
search projects, each made possible by a special gift. Late in 1945 the 
Mayo Properties Association of Rochester authorized a gift of $25,000 
to the society to provide for the writing and publication of a history 
of pubUc health in Minnesota. Professor PhiUp D. Jordan of the de­
partment of history of the university was chosen to direct the oper­
ation. Another member of the same department. Dr. Rodney C. 
Loehr, was named director of the society's Forest Products History 
Foundation, estabUshed in 1946 with funds provided by the Weyer­
haeuser and Denkmann famiUes, both long identified with the lum­
ber industry. This research and writing project was made possible 
by a grant of $50,000. The work of the foundation has expanded, 
until it now is operating on a national scale. Two other substantial 
gifts of money were received by the society in the last half of the 
decade — one of $4,500 from the Oliver Mining Company to aid 
the society in publishing a history of iron mining in Minnesota, and 
the other of $3,500 from the Minnesota and Ontario Paper Company 
for the publication of a history of the Rainy River region. Both books 
will appear under Dr. Nute's authorship. 

In the summer of 1947, just as Centennial plans were getting well 
under way, with a special staff set up under the able direction of 
Dean J. M. Nolte, Dr. Larsen resigned to accept a commission as a 
major in the regular army. Shortly afterward he was assigned to the 
office of the air historian of the Army Air Forces in Washington. 
His successor was Dr. Carlton C. Qualey, professor of American 
history in Carleton College. On a part-time basis, Dr. Qualey re­
tained his professorship, making the trip from Northfield to the 
society's building in St. Paul three times a week. The strain of admin­
istering the society's affairs during the difficult months of Centennial 
organization, combined with teaching and travel, proved to be too 
great and, before the end of a year. Dr. Qualey resigned. Dr. Harold 
Dean Cater arrived in St. Paul to take over the directorship of the 
society in August, 1948. 
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The events of the past decade, culminating in the Territorial Cen­
tennial, which Minnesotans throughout the state to its most remote 
corners celebrated with open-hearted enthusiasm, are too close to the 
present to be properly evaluated. To view the accomplishments of 
the society during this period and to judge their value, one needs the 
perspective of time. Obviously, the period from 1939 to 1949 was an 
era of change — in leadership, in personnel, in policies. Like the world 
in general, the Minnesota Historical Society was marked by rest­
lessness during the decade of the Second World War. The effects of 
that restlessness must be left for the future to judge. 

Nevertheless, it can be stated with certainty that, as the result of 
a century of accomplishment, the society has attained a reputation 
which places it among the four or five leading institutions of its kind 
in the United States. It serves a dual function, since it is both a 
private membership corporation and a semipublic institution that 
has from the beginning carried a full load of pubUc responsibility. It 
is the official custodian of the state's history, and, as such, it is sub­
stantially maintained by the legislature. The sustaining interest of its 
members as well, and the devoted labors of such presidents in recent 
decades as William W. Folwell, Guy Stanton Ford, Edward C. Gale, 
Lester B. Shippee, Julius E. Haycraft, Kenneth G. Brill, and Berg­
mann Richards have been essential contributions toward the society's 
welfare. Rounding out a full century of progress, the 1949 Centennial 
served to focus the attention of thousands of people in and out of 
Minnesota upon the society and its value to the state, and therefore 
to secure more firmly than ever its position as one of the most 
significant institutions in Minnesota. 
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